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SUBJECT:
Staff Recommendation for Approval of a Waiver from 4 CSR 240-40.030(15)(C)

DATE:

June 4, 2003

Application
On May 20, 2003, the City of Kennett, Missouri (Kennett) filed a REQUEST FOR WAIVER (Application) requesting a waiver from the requirements of 4 CSR 240-40.030(15)(C) that require Kennett to replace a 6-inch steel yard line serving an Emerson Electric Co. (Emerson) facility.  Emerson is a large manufacturing firm with Engineering and Maintenance Departments that are capable of maintaining its facilities and natural gas fuel lines, including two yard lines.  Emerson had two unprotected
 steel yard lines that were subject to the replacement requirements of 4 CSR 240-40.030(15)(C), a 6-inch yard line and an 8-inch yard line.  The 8-inch unprotected steel yard line was replaced by Emerson with a new 8-inch cathodically-protected
 steel yard line, as provided for in 4 CSR 240-40.030(8)(B)2. (see description in the Regulatory Background section of this Memorandum).  Emerson has installed insulators
 on the 6-inch unprotected steel yard line and applied cathodic protection to the yard line.  Kennett conducts an annual leak survey and an annual cathodic protection survey for this 6-inch yard line.  Kennett will continue to conduct these annual surveys and believes that safety will not be compromised if this 6-inch yard line is not replaced.

Annual Report and Assessment Status

Kennett is a municipality and is regulated by the Missouri Public Service Commission (Commission) for gas safety only.  Therefore, the reporting of the annual report and assessment status is not applicable in this case.

Regulatory Background

The federal pipeline safety regulations in 49 CFR part 192 do not address fuel lines or yard lines, and do not require unprotected steel service and yard lines to be replaced.  In Case No. GX-89-220, the Commission promulgated regulations that included a yard line definition, installation/replacement requirements for unprotected steel service and yard lines, and leak survey requirements for all yard lines.  These regulations became effective on December 15, 1989, and the replacement requirements applied to steel service lines and steel yard lines that were unprotected on December 15, 1989 (see 4 CSR 240-40.030(15)(B)).  “Service line” is defined in the federal and Commission regulations as the distribution line from a common source of supply to the customer meter or the connection to a customer’s piping, whichever is farther downstream.  At 4 CSR 240-40.030(1)(B)7., “fuel line” is defined as the customer-owned piping downstream of the “service line”.  At 4 CSR 240-40.030(1)(B)31., “yard line” is defined as the underground portion of a “fuel line” located between the “service line” and the customer’s building.  At 4 CSR 240-40.030(8)(B)1., residential/small commercial yard line replacements must be installed, owned and maintained by the gas system operator, and new yard line installations are not permitted.  At 4 CSR 240-40.030(8)(B)2., industrial/large commercial yard lines can be installed, replaced, owned and maintained by the customer, except that leak surveys of the yard line must be conducted by the gas system operator.  At 4 CSR 240-40.030(13)(M)2.B., leak surveys are required annually for unprotected steel yard lines and every third calendar year for all other yard lines.  At 4 CSR 240-40.030(15)(C), each municipal gas system operator (including Kennett) was required to establish a leak survey and replacement program for unprotected steel yard lines and notify the Commission by May 1, 1990, of which replacement option the operator will implement.  Kennett chose the third option contained in paragraph (15)(C)3., and the Commission recognized this in Case No. GO-91-239.  The third option was a minimum annual replacement of ten percent, which was later reduced to five percent for yard lines beginning with calendar year 1994.

During the promulgation of the yard line installation and replacement regulations at 4 CSR 240-40.030(8)(B) and (15)(C), it was recognized by the Commission that special circumstances were involved for yard lines at industrial complexes and that these should be dealt with through the “Waivers of Compliance” regulation that was added at 4 CSR 240-40.030(16).  In response to the proposed rulemaking, some individual gas system operators and the Missouri gas system operators’ committee included a comment that regulations regarding yard lines should only apply to residential customers and should not apply to commercial and industrial customers.  In the Order of Rulemaking, the Commission responded to this comment in the Commission’s findings regarding comments for proposed subsection (8)(B) as follows (excerpt from page 1588 of the Missouri Register dated December 1, 1989):

The commission concurs with those commenters who urge an exemption for commercial, industrial, or military complexes.  However, many such users are served by one (1) meter at or near the structure, as are residential customers.  These should not be exempted.  The commission therefore finds that exempting commercial, industrial and military complexes should depend on individual circumstances attending each user.  To achieve same, a variance procedure has been appended, see infra.
In addition, the Commission incorporated this finding by reference in its findings regarding comments for proposed subsection (15)(C) as follows (excerpt from page 1598 of the Missouri Register dated December 1, 1989):

The commission findings made, supra, under subsection (8)(B) also apply to operator comments made above.  Said findings are therefore incorporated by reference.

Staff Response
The Staff has reviewed the Application and finds the requested waiver is acceptable in regard to pipeline safety.  The Staff agrees with Kennett that the waiver will not reduce pipeline safety based upon the facts that the 6-inch steel yard line is now under cathodic protection and that Kennett will continue to annually survey this line for leaks and the proper level of cathodic protection.  These proposed surveys by Kennett exceed the regulations in that cathodic protection surveys of yard lines are not required and cathodically-protected yard lines are only required to be leak surveyed every third year instead of annually.

Kennett has replaced every unprotected steel yard line in its system, except for the two yard lines at Emerson.  Kennett has worked with Emerson to address these two yard lines, resulting in replacement by Emerson of the 8-inch yard line and the cathodic protection by Emerson of the 6-inch yard line.  Even though cathodic protection does not meet the requirement to replace the unprotected steel yard line, it is a positive action to protect the integrity of this yard line in the future. This cathodic protection with annual monitoring should prevent any further corrosion of the steel pipe in this yard line and prevent any future leak due to corrosion.  If for some reason a leak were to occur, it would be detected during the annual leak survey of the yard line and repaired.

The Staff believes that Emerson and Kennett have taken adequate actions in regard to the Emerson yard lines, and that Kennett and Emerson should not be further required to replace the 6-inch yard line that is now cathodically protected.  The Staff believes the annual leak survey and cathodic protection survey are the critical factors in assuring that safety will not be compromised for this yard line, and recommends, therefore, that these annual surveys be made a condition of the waiver if it is granted by the Commission.  The Staff notes that the Commission envisioned individual waivers for commercial, industrial and military complexes, such as this industrial customer in Kennett, when subsection (15)(C) was promulgated.  Emerson is one of the largest corporations in Missouri, and has the ability and expertise to share the responsibility for its natural gas fuel lines.

Staff Recommendation
As provided for in 4 CSR 240-40.030(16), the Staff recommends that the Commission grant a waiver to Kennett from the requirement in 4 CSR 240-40.030(15)(C) to replace the 6-inch yard line to Emerson.  The Staff recommends that the waiver, if granted, be conditioned upon Kennett conducting an annual instrument leak survey and an annual cathodic protection survey for this 6-inch yard line.  

� Unprotected is a term used here and in the Commission’s regulations to refer to steel pipe that has not been cathodically protected.





�  Cathodic protection is applied to underground steel pipe by attaching a sacrificial anode to the steel pipe.  The anode (magnesium) corrodes and protects the cathode (steel pipe) from corrosion.





� Insulators are devices installed in steel pipe to electrically isolate the pipe on each side of the device.  For example, the insulator at the building electrically isolates the cathodically protected steel pipe between the meter and building from the fuel piping inside the building.
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